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STATEMENT - - . - OF TFTE . --- CASE . AND FACTS 

The following is offered Lo supplement and/or clarify the 

statement of the case and facts recited by the appellant: 

Prior to trial, the appc*l lant- f j  led a motion seeking to have 

his public defender replaced, ilnd the public defender filed a 

motion to withdraw ( R .  21-23). Both motions cited an incident 

that occurred when the attornriy imd an investigator met with the 

appellant in jail ( R .  21-?2, 2 4 ) .  As documented in the Incident 

Report, the appellant had to be physically escorted from the room 

and continued to threaten the investigator a3 he was returned to 

h i s  cell (R. 27; T. 10,52-11)53). The trial court ultimately 

appointed new counsel. Far khc. appellant ( R .  37-38). 

The victim in this case, Sandra Sutherland, was found on top 

of her bed in her apartment about 2:OO p.m. on January 16, 1991 

(T, 278, 375). Sandra had been bound, gagged and stabbed to 

death (T. 280, 331,  3 7 5 - 3 7 6 ) .  She was lying crosswise, with her 

head near one side of the bed anti her f e e t  hanging over the other 

side (T. 473;  Ex. 24, 25). Chi the bedside table near her feet 

there w a s  an open jar of face cream. The top was unscrewed and 

laying next to the jar (T. 318, Ex. 20). The room had been 

ransacked, a jewelry box w a s  missing, and the contents of her 

purse had been dumped and s t r e w n  over the floor (T. 274, 318-319, 

406; Ex. 18, 19, 21, 22). The other rooms of the apartment 

appeared to be in order, f~lt-,hough a shelf underneath the 

television in the l iv ing  room had an outline of dust and loose 



f 

* 

wires indicating thal, i3 VCR hi3d r-ecrently been taken, and her 

cordless phone was inoperable ( T .  2 8 0 ,  317-318, 407; Ex. 16, 17). 

Sandra's VCR had been pawned at 1:42 that afternoon (T. 287; 

Ex. 4 ) .  Although Sandra 1 i.vod i n  Temple Terrace, which is a 

mixed residentia1lcommerai.a 1 area, the pawn shop was located 

about nine miles away, almost  tm downtown Tampa (T. 425-426) .  

The appellant had pawned the VCR and gotten thirty dollars for it 

(T. 2 8 8 ;  Ex. 4 ) .  In addit ion,  the appellant's fingerprints were 

discovered on the lid to L t w  jar  o€ face cream on the bedside 

table, and on the back of one of t h e  pieces of paper scattered 

around the floor: of Sandra's bedroom (T. 346, 3 4 9 ) .  A 

fingerprint expert; testified that under normal circumstances a 

print w i l l  be destroyed e i t h c v  by being handled ar by exposure to  

heat ,  humidity or rain ('1'. 3 4 % )  

Dr. Charles Diggs was t:he associate medical examiner that 

observed Sandra at the scene and then later performed her autopsy 

(T. 374-37s) .  Dr. Diggs ~ ; , F J S I  i f i e d  that Sandra was found lying 

face down with her hands t i 4  behind her back (T. 375). There 

were thirteen stab wounds mi her back, but no evidence of any 

other trauma was observed ('1'. 376-377) .  Each wound was five 

inches deep, and had been i~~fljcted by a knife-type weapon (T. 

378). One wound was located on the back of Sandra's neck, and 

each of the remaining twelve had punctured her lungs ( T .  3 7 9 ) .  

Any one of these twelve would have been fatal in and of itself 

(T. 380). Diggs stated that  Sandra would have remained conscious 

for thirty to sixty seconds, anrd would have died in four to five 
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minutes ( T .  382-383) rt wta'i r i o t  an immediate death as it would 

have been had a stab directly wounded her heart ( T .  3 8 3 ) .  She 

would have been consciotss  through at. least the first several 

stabbings, and she was a l i v e  durinq a l l  th i r teen  of t h e  stabs ( T .  

386 ,  3 9 1 ) .  The nature  o f  t h o  wounds indicated t h a t  they had 

occurred i n  quick ~uc~essinn, a s  "i.n some type of frenzic  

passionate activi.ty" (T- 3 9 7 ) .  

Tampa Police Department- t letect ive Randy B e l l  testified that 

the  appellant w a s  i d e n t i f i e d  as a suspect when a review of recent 

pawn slips revealed the t i c k p l  for Sandra's VCR (T. 407,  4 0 9 ) .  

B e l l  interviewed the  appelt~nt at, 4:28 p.m. an January 30, 1991 

( T .  410). A f t e r  the appel lanl  waived h i s  constitutional rights, 

Bell advised him that. he w w  investigating a homicide, and asked 

him i f  he knew Sandra SviJierland ( T .  4 1 3 ) .  The appellant 

indicated that  he did,  d w  tr, t h e  fact that they had lived i n  the  

same apartment complex i n  tht: area next to each other f o r  a while 

( T .  4 1 3 ) .  He stated t h a t  Sandra had moved into a d i f f e r e n t  

apartment about e ight  months earlier, and he had only seen her 

t w i c e  s ince  then (T. 4 1 3 ) .  O ~ P  time he had talked to her about 

putting a screened porch on the back of her apartment, and then 

about t w o  months prior to t h ~  homicide he had seen her by the  

m a i l  boxes and they had t n l k w l  about her t r i p  to Germany ( T .  

4 1 3 ) .  

B e l l  asked the appellant where he had been on January 1 6 ,  

and the  appellant told him that he had called in sick that 

morning, and about 10:30 S O ~ P  maintenance people came to repair 



s o m e  holes in the wall. of' h i s  apartment ( T .  4 1 4 ) .  A f t e r  they 

left, according to the n y p e l l h n t ,  he stayed ins ide  all day by 

himself watching television i n r i t i l  h i s  girlfriend returned with 

the car about 4:30 La 5 :  15 (T'+ 4 1 4 )  I H e  stated that  he never 

left the apartment (T'. 4 1 5 ) .  When t;rel1. confronted the appellant 

with the fact that Hell knFw he had pawned Sandra's VCR that 

afternoon, the appellant was shocked and said that he had found 

the VCR in a green duffle bar( when he took the garbage out, and 

that he took it to his house, then put it in his car and drove it 

to the pawn shop ( T .  4 1 5 ) .  

T h e  appellant presenLw.1 several witnesses. Sydney Bayles 

testified that he had seen Sandra outside arguing with a big 

white male the day before s h ~  was killed ( T .  4 4 6 - 4 4 7 ) .  Brad 

Ganka and his girlfriend B e r n j c e  Phipps testified that they saw a 

man named William KunkZe l eav ing  Sandra's apartment about 9:SO on 

the morning of the murder, locking the front door on his way out 

(T. 501-503, 510-512). The defense also wanted to recall Dr. 

Diggs, but the stake  objectxd to the testimony sought as 

speculative (T. 4 5 6 - 4 5 7 ) .  ThFl trial court entertained a proffer 

of Diggs' testimony (T. 462). 

In the proffer, DiggEi wa:? asked his opinion as to Sandra's 

position at the time her * - ~ O U T I ~ S  were inflicted (T. 464). He 

stated that she had probably heen lying face down on her bed, 

just  as she was found (T. 4 6 4 ) .  When asked about the 

significance of the €act thal Sandra had been baund and gagged, 

Diggs stated that two possible3 scenarios came to mind -- that  she 
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had been incapacitated so that she couldn't fight or yell, or 

that she had consented to a bondage type situation (T. 465). He 

stated that the two scenes would look identical, and that "as ta 

what happened here, I have no idea" (T. 466). He noted that 

there were no defensive wounds or signs of a struggle (T. 466). 

Diggs stated that even in consensual sex cases he had seen, there 

are usually bruises and lacerations present (T. 470). Diggs also 

stated that he could not identify where the perpetrator would 

have been at the time of the stabbing, although the mast "common 

theme" would place the perpetrator behind Sandra (T. 467). 

Finally, Diggs noted that the path of the stab wounds was 

basically left to right, which generally meant that the 

perpetrator would be left handed, i f  Sandra had been lying flat 

at the time, which could not be determined (T. 467-468). Diggs 

cautioned that there would be "large percentages of variations" 

on this conclusion (T. 468). While he believed Sandra was prone 

at the time of the offense, she was not necessarily lying flat in 

the position she was found (T. 470-471). He was not able to 

determine if the perpetrator had been closer to Sandra's head or 

her feet as she was stabbed (T. 473-474). 

The trial court asked several questions in order to 

determine the admissibility of Diggs' testimony (T. 475). In 

response, Diggs stated that whether or not the bondage w a s  

consensual was not something that he, as medical examiner, would 

typically testify about or try to determine (T. 475). He 

suggested that this was not within his purview, and that a 
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psychiatrist would be n m r ~  hr.1 p i n mc:ertaining what had happened 

beyond the physical posit-ion:: {T .  4 7 5 - 4 7 6 ) .  The CoUKt ruled that 

she would allow testjmoq- as t,o the positions of the body and the 

lack of defensi-ve wC>iinds, hut  nod. w h e t h e r  the  bandage was 

consensual or Forced (T. 4 7 9  ,481 ) ) .  D e f e n s e  counsel asked if he 

could inquire whether Lhe P ' Y ~ W ~  was "consistent with a bondage 

murder" and niggs noted that t h e r e  was not enough information, 

that the scene was consistent w i t h  both theories because it was 

not inconsistent with either o n e  (T. 480 ,  4 8 3 ) .  In addition, 

D i g g s  stated that offering snrrh a conclusion wau3_d be "total 

speculation" and misleading For Lhe ju ry  (T. 4 8 4 - 4 8 5 ) .  

Thereafter, Ilr DiqyF f x s t  i f j ed before the jury that I based 

on his observations,  Sandra had been lying down at the time her 

wounds w e r e  inflicted (T .  49O7-4!?2). H e  stated that there were no 

signs of a struggle, and no pvidence of defensive wounds or any 

beating prior to the s tabhirq  ( T -  4 9 2 - 4 9 3 ) .  Based on the blood 

spatters, he believed t h a t  t h c a  perpetrator was over Sandra at the 

t h e ,  but that he c o u l d  h a w  I r w n  In any position behind her (T. 

493-494) .  D i g g s  a lso L e s t i f j w l  that. the left-to-right direction 

of the wounds could m e a n  th;rI t h e  perpetrator w a s  l e f t  or right 

handed, depending c m  s e v t ~ ~ - l  ninknown factors (T. 4 9 6 ) .  Diggs 

could not say if Sandra had h t ~ n  lying f l a t  or face down, she may 

have been hunched over (T. d n 8 ) .  

The appellant also t e s t i f i t i d  on h i s  own behalf. (T. 527). He 

stated that  prior to JanuaI'y, 1991, he had l ived i n  the same 

apartment complex for, at m o s t - ,  one and a half years (T. 529-  



530). At one timL, hp l ' v e d  i n  iln apartment behind Sandra 

Sutherland (T. 530). Sandr r  had m o v d  to a different apartment, 

and sometime after she moved arid Eive or s i x  months before she 

w a s  killed, he had m o v ~ x ~ ~  t r -  r7 different apartment as well (T. 

5 2 9 ,  532). 

The appellant saw Sar,+r-n on the back porch of her new 

apartment beforg he had moi-ec l  to his new apartment (T. 532). 

They had previously talked wut h i s  screening her patio in, and 

at that time she handed him a piece of paper to write 

measurements on, but t h e n  t o o k  .it-, back saying ha shouldn't write 

on it (T. 532-533). Shc banded him a notepad instead and he 

wrote down everything s h e  w i ~ l d  need fo r  the screening job (T. 

5 3 3 ) .  H e  returned a week or t w o  lator and she had decided not to 

have the patio screened (T 5 3 4 ) .  He actually went inside her 

apartment, and, according 1 0  his testimony, this was the  only 

t h e  he was ever inside h e r  n e w  apartment (T. 552). He helped 

her move boxes around and pi'! l w l  "whatnots" and stuff out of t h e  

boxes (T. 536, 538). He did n o t  specifically recall the jar of 

face cream on which his fing,,r-I-,rint was found (T. 537). 

When asked the last L i w z  t h a t  he had seen Sandra alive, the 

appellant said they  had WKI- talked awhile out by t h e  mailboxes 

( T .  5 3 9 ) .  He then said i r c  once saw her coming out of her 

apartment early in the morning, about 6:30 or 7:OO (T. 5 3 9 ) .  She 

was getting ready to go sornewher:e ,  and she was calling someone on 

her portable phone and csankiny up her car (T. 539). When she 

saw him, she came over to 1);s car  and he told her he was just 



getting home from playing I m k c r  ( T  5 3 9 ) .  He stated that she 

laughed and threw her phanc! i n  h i s  car, saying he should call 

home first (T. 5 3 9 - 5 4 0 ) .  € 1 ~  handed her phone back, saying "you 

know I don' t have a phrm?" nrrd they I-.al ked about the Gulf War (T. 

540). He estimated that t -hi .s  was CI day or two prior to her 

murder (T. 555-556). H O W ~ V ~ T ,  Lhe time that he saw her and they 

talked outside by the mailboxc::; w a s  much earlier, before she had 

moved to her new apartm~nt,  r,rios to September, 1990 (T. 553- 

5 5 5 ) .  

The appellant claincd t f ~ i i t  he had t o l d  Detective Bell that 

he had seen Sandra within a f e w  days of her murder, and stated 

that Bell was lying when he f c w t i f i e d  that the appellant had told 

him that  the last time he! had seen Sandra was a couple of months 

earlier at the mailboxes (21. 5 5 6 )  - The appellant also testified 

that he had told Bell t h a t  h- WAS home a l l  day on the  day of the 

murder because he "didn't associate anything that I did that day 

with a murder or anything" (ri'* 5 5 7 ) .  H e  said he was aware of the 

murder but didn't make any rmnnection with the VCR so he didn't 

volunteer anything about t h r  W R  to Bell (T. 5 5 8 ) .  The appellant 

also stated that he t o l d  pel1 t h a t .  he and his girlfriend had been 

planning to move to separ.it2v apartments, but that they had 

changed their minds and w e r ~  gning to move together to another 

complex (T. 559-560) .  

The appellant testified FhaC on ,January 16, 1991, he did not 

work but called in s i c k  b e c a i i s ~  he had taken some cold medication 

and did not  feel like gettinq up at 5:30 a.m. (T. 540). Two 
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maintenance men had cnmc t o  rlr) some repairs at his apartment, and 

they w e r e  going tu be r c F u P - n i n q  wi.t-,h t h e i r  supervisor, so the 

appellant decided to takr: Q U ~  I l i ~ 3  garbage (T. 541) He found the 

VCR and some orange p i l l o w r ; :  and newspapers in a green laundry 

type bag in the dumpst-er T W ~ X  h i s  apartment (T. 5 4 2 ) .  He 

originally thought the  VCR ..a,.; a compact disc player (T. 542). 

He toak it o u t ,  c l e a n e d  i t  u p ,  dusted it off and pawned it 

because he already had a VCR am1 needed a few extra dollars (T. 

5 4 4 ) .  In fact, he s ta ted  that he  had had financial problems a l l  

h i s  life (T. 5 5 9 ) .  

The appeLlant. testifi-4 !.hat. he was surprised when he 

realized that Detective Re11 w a s  talking about h i s  friend Sandy, 

since he never knew h e r  as Sqrndril Sutherland (T. 546). He denied 

having been in her apartment- on .January 16, 1991, and stated that 

he had not stolen her VCR or killed her  (T. 5 4 7 ) .  

In rebuttal, William 1F;.rinklca testified that  on January 1 6 ,  

1991, he worked in the buildiny next door to the building where 

Sandra's apartment was I ~ ) c - t w i ~  but. that  he had not been in 

Sandra's apartment a t  all thr71 day (T. 5 6 7 - 5 6 8 ) .  H e  stated that  

to his knowledge, he had n c w ~ r .  hnd any conversation or any 

interaction with Sandra at a l  I ( T .  5 6 9 ) .  

The state also recall4 Iletective Bell (T. 5 7 6 ) .  Bell 

reiterated that  the appellant hod t v l d  him that the  last time the  

appellant saw Sandra alive was two months prior to the murder, 

outside at the mailboxes (T. 5 8 5 )  The appellant also told him 

that  the appellant and h i s  riirlfsiend were moving to separate 



apartments, and d id  not t c * l  1 him t-hat they planned to move 

together to a different rlf;wrt:mfint, complex (T. 5 8 6 ) .  

Fingerprint examiner David T.'arn~ll. also testified in 

rebuttal that Wi 1 1 iam KUP k ! I ?  ' !i f i n q q q x i o t s  had been compared 

with ail of the unknown prinks  recovered Prom Sandra's apartment, 

and that there were no m a t ( - h e s  based on these comparisons (T. 

629). 

The jury convicted the appe1Iant as charged on all counts 

(T. 758). P r i o r  to t h e  beginmi.rtg o f  the penalty phase, defense 

counsel requested t h a t  tJle a p p 1  lank ' s shackles  be removed (T. 

815). The trial judge d m ' e d  l .his request after insuring that  

the jury would not he a b l e  t - c i  see t h e  shackles, and noted that 

she would have the jury rakvi o u t  uf t-he courtroom prior to the 

appellant ' s test.ifyj ng so t.hrit t-he shackles could he removed a t  

t h a t  time (T .  8 1 6 ) .  

The court took judicial notice o f  and instructed t h e  jury 

regarding the appellant ' 5  p r - i o r  violent felony convictions (T. 

798, 818-819) I T h e r e a f t e r ,  , I i d y  Raker testified to the facts 

underlying those convic t ions  (T. 820). Baker stated that she was 

working at her g i f t  shop in r l ' ~ ~ i ~ ~ v l e  Terrace an January 29, 1991, 

when the appellant came i n  a!ma!-t+ 3:45 p . m .  (T. 820-821). After 

looking around and speaking r)rjLh Baker about a possible gift, the 

appellant grabbed Baker, t o o k  !.he cordless telephone out of her 

hand, and pulled h e r  head bsr:k (T. 822-824). Baker saw that the 

appellant had a knife w i t h  a l-niir to five inch blade (T. 824). 

The appellant stated that, hf.2 r t i c l  not w a n t  to hurt her, he only 
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wanted her money, and he wnuld  nrit h u r t  her if she remained c a l m  

(T. 8 2 4 )  He asked her. w h c ? r ( l  tier money was, and then led her 

into another: room w h e w  iw t-mv her hl.oixse and stuffed it in her 

mouth to gag her (T. 8 2 4 ) .  r j e  Lied b r  hands behind her back and 

tied another cord around her  mrmth Lo hold the gag in (T. 825). 

He took thirty two dollars riit o f  t h e  cash register, then dumped 

the contents of her purse oiit and tnuk twenty to thirty dollars 

from her wallet (T. 8 2 5 ) .  

The appellant t .ook he.-" inl_o a storage room, put tape over 

the cord that tied her hands  behind her back, and told her he had 

to cover her face (T. 826-827). I - lc  got angry when she looked at 

him, implying that he c0ul.d not let her live if she saw and 

remembered him (T.  832) I HP raped her, and commented that he 

should "take care nf t h i s  so 1 have nothing to w o r r y  about" (T. 

8 3 2 ) .  Fallawing Bakes's testimony, the court instructed the jury 

that sympathy should not  p l a y  any part in t h e i r  decision (T. 

8 3 9 ) .  

The defense called Tammy Gallimore, the  appellant's 

girlfriend' (T. 8 3 9 ) .  Tammy rind the  appellant moved to Florida 

in March, 1988, and their daughter w a s  born on April 21, 1988 (T. 

843, 847). Tammy described t h e  appellant's positive character 

traits and begged t h e  j u r y  l o  "spare his life" (T. 8 5 5 ) .  

Following her testimony, t h e  court  noted that the  witness had 

Although the PSI reflects t h a t  Tammy and the appellant were 
married in Georgia on June 15, 1.988, the appellant testified at 
trial that he was not married and Tammy did not specifically 
address their relationship ( " -  527-528,  R .  9 6 4 ) .  



been crying, and repeated her instruction to the jury that 

sympathy should not play any part in their deliberations (T. 856, 

858). Joe Williams also testified about the appellant's good 

character traits and the circumstances surrounding his being 

fired from the job at University Community Hospital (T. 860-869). 

Dr. Michael Eamache is a clinical and forensic psychologist 

who had spent a total of five or five and a half hours with the 

appellant (T. 869-870). The appellant had told Gamache that he 

grew up in a family near poverty level, and that his father had 

been a very heavy drinker that left when the appellant was about 

three years old (T. 874). Gamache would characterize the 

appellant's childhood as deprived since the appellant's father 

had not been around, and the appellant grew up in a small 

southern town in the sixties (T. 888-889). Gamache described the 

appellant's education and military history (T. 875-876). His 

testing revealed that the appellant was normal, was not psychotic 

or a psychopath, and had no major psychological symptoms (T. 884, 

886). He noted that the appellant was bonded to and loved his 

daughter (T. 890). He cancluded that the appellant would adjust 

well to a prison setting and had an excellent potential for 

rehabilitation (T. 888). 

l 

The jury returned a recommendation of death by a nine to 

three vote (T. 921). After reviewing written memoranda and 

entertaining arguments of counsel, the trial judge followed this 

recommendation (T. 942, 950; R. 153, 157). She found three 

aggravating circumstances: prior violent felony convictions; 
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murder committed for p ~ r ” n i a c y  gain:  and murder w a s  especially 

heinous, atrocious and c i r l t e j l  (T,  942-948; R. 153-155). She also 

gave some weight, to c?nch of five nonstatutory mitigating 

circumstances: contJ:-imbut i o m  t r ~  c-omrnunity as evidenced by work 

and military h i s to ry ;  p w i l -  ivc-? character traits; would adjust 

well” to prison settinq ftnd h i s  potxmlial for rehabilitation; 

deprived childhood; buxidinq and love for h i s  daughter (T. 948- 

9 5 0 ;  R .  155-156). H O W E ~ V F ~ ,  she? determined that t h e  aggravating 

circumstances outweighed the mjtiqating circumstances and imposed 

a sentence of death (T.  9SO;  R .  1 5 6 - 3 5 7 ) .  



SUMMFYY -- T)P THE ARGUMENT - 

Issue I: There was substantial, competent evidence 

presented to support+ the  j u r y  verdicts rendered in this case. 

The appellant ' s testimony in Lhis case was inconsistent with the 

testi.mony of Detective B e l l ,  and therefore the jury w a s  entitled 

to reject the  appellant I s  hypothesis of innocence. In addition, 

the appellant did not reasonably explain the presence of his 

fingerprints in Sandra ' s apartment The evidence clearly 

established that the appel Laxit committed the crimes, and was 

suf f i .uient to support a f j  rssl degree murder conviction under 

either a premeditated DT elnny murder theory. 

Issue 11: The t i a1 C O U I ~ .  properly excluded t h e  proffered 

testimony of the associate n i ~ d  icnl examiner as speculative. Dr. 

Diggs characterized the test.irnony sought as total speculation and 

misleading. As such, it could not possibly have aided the trier 

af fact and w a s  correctly exrlt~rled by the court. 

Issue 111: The appellant's arqument as to trial court's 

denial of his request to ha.7~: his shackles removed has not been 

preserved for appellate revipw, s ince  defense counsel acquiesced 

once the  judge took measures t o  insure that the jury would not 

see the shackles. Even i f  the argument is considered, the 

appellant has failed to demomlrate that he is entitled to a new 

sentencing proceeding, s i n c e  khe jury was not aware of the 

shackles. 



Issue IV: The trial court did not err in allowing Judy 

Baker, rather than the investigating detective, to testify to the 

facts underlying the appellant's prior violent felony 

convictions. The prejudicial nature of this evidence came from 

the substance of the testimony, not who was testifying. The 

state cannot be precluded from presenting the witness with the 

most knowledge simply to diminish the impact of the tragic prior 

canvictions on the jury. 

Issue V: The appellant's claim that the trial court 

improperly prohibited defense counsel from cross examining W s .  

Baker regarding the identity of her attacker has not been 

preserved for appellate review, since there was no proffer of the 

excluded testimony. The state did not open the door to this 

evidence by presenting Baker as a witness. Furthermore, such 

evidence would be irrelevant since lingering or residual doubt as 

to the validity of a prior violent felony conviction cannot be 

admitted or argued as mitigation in a penalty phase proceeding. 
I 

Issue VI: The appellant's argument that the trial court 

erred in denying the appellant's request for individual jury 

instructions on the specific nonstatutary mitigators is not 

adequately before this Court, since the propaaed instructions do 

not appear in the record on appeal. In addition, this Court has 

previously recognized that the "catch-all" instruction relating 

to any other aspect of the defendant's character is sufficient 

even when multiple nonstatutory mitigators are argued. 
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Issue VII: The qppel-lant- has f a i l e d  to demonstrate any 

error i n  the imposition nf Ibis sentence of death. There was 

substantial , competent evi d e ~ i c e  to support each of the 

aggravating c ixcumstanc(>s  -f ound hy the t r ia l  court, and t h e  

sentence i s  not disproportionntp w i t h  other death penalty cases. 

I .  G - 



AHGIJMENT 

ISSUE _. I 

WHETHER THERE WAS: SUHSTANS'IAL, COMPETENT 
EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO SUPPORT THE JURY 
VERDICTS REN1')F:IIRD nCA I NST 7TTE hPPELLANT . 

. -  ._ -. 

The appellant i .ni  t ia1.J y nttixcks the sufficiency of the 

evidence to support hi s c o n v i c t  i-ons, arguing that the evidence 

was not sufficient to T ~ X I I  his reasonable hypotheses of 

innocence. Of course, t h v  cyiestion of whether the evidence 

presented was inconsistenL w i  th his hypotheses of innocence w a s  

for the jury, and the  verdicts  cannot be disturbed if they are 

supported by substantial, c:umpektent. evidence. Heiney . v. State, 

447 So. 2d 210 (Fla.), c r x t .  rleni-sd, 469  U.S. 9 2 0  (1984). A 

motion far judgment o f  acquittal should not be granted unless 

there is no view of the evidence. favorable to the state that can 

be sustained under the law.. Lkluqelo - ~ v. State, 616 So. 2d 4 4 0  

(Pla. 1993). Furthermore, t.Jw state is not required to rebut 

every conceivable version of events, but only to introduce 

evidence which is inconsist.ent with the defendant's theory of 

events. State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187, 189 (Fla. 1989). 

Specifically, the a p p  1 1 ant claims that there was 

insufficient evidence to t?:<I.abl i s h  his identity as the 

perpetrator; to prove that ttw murder was premeditated; to prove 

that the murder was commi-tted diIring t h e  course of a robbery; and 

to prove that the murder was mot ivated  by a desire for pecuniary 

gain. With the  above pri.ricip.lc-n in mind, these claims will each 

be considered individuaJ.ly . 
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A. IDENTITY 

The appellant claims t ' i  !.here was insuf fici-erit evidence t o  

establish that he wa.r- t he mernc-.t.ral t o€ these of fenses .  The 

state clearly established a pr-imn facie  case of the appellant's 

i d e n t i t y ,  based on khe fact-s that, the appellant pawned the VCR 

taken from Sandra's apartment. w i t h i n  hours of t h e  killing; the 

appellant I s  f ingerprints  were .Located on t w o  i t e m s  within 

Sandra's bedroom; and t h e  appe I lant i riitially t o l d  Detective B e l l  

that he had not- left  his rlprirt.ment at all on t h e  day of the 

murder, Because  the appeJ1ant bel.irves that he explained all of 

t h i s  evidence a t  trial, tie i l r t j \ I p S  thatr. h i s  version of: events must 

be accepted. H e  offers two hypotheses of innocence based on h i s  

version of events: that W i l . l . i a m  Kunkle k i l l e d  Sandra, and that 

Sandra was killed by an u ~ ~ k r i u w r i  person, possibly the man she was 

seen arguing with t h e  day hrfrzrct h e r  death. 

The first hypothesis is easi ly  refuted by the fact that 

W i l l i a m  Kunkle testified at  tri.al that he had not killed Sandra 

(T. 5 6 7 - 5 6 9 ) .  Although other c ircumstantial evidence also 

exonerated Hunkle, it is n o t  necessary to weigh that evidence 

since the  jury clearly could have rejected LhJs hypothesis of 

innocence based on Runkle's testimony. Certainly, a jury is not 

required to accept any theory on w h i c h  the state has produced 

conflicting evidence. Cochran _ _  - _ .____. v. - State, 547 So. 2d 928 (Fla. 

1989). 



The appellant's second hypothesis could also be rejected by 

the jury based on circumstances showing it to be false. Most 

notably, the appellant's testimony at trial could have been 

rejected entirely since it contradicted the appellant's initial 

statement to Detective Bell that the appellant had not left his 

apartment at all on January 16, 1991 (T. 415-416). When a 

defendant has made pretrial statements that contradict his story 

at trial, the evidence is sufficient to create a jury issue. 

Bedford v. State, 589 So. 26 245, 250-251 (Fla. 1991), cert. 

denied, U.S. -, 118 L. Ed. 2d 432 (1992); Stone v. State, 

564 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), rev. denied, 576 So. 2d 292 

(Pla. 1991); Fowler v. State, 492 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1986), rev. denied, 503 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 1987); Buenoano v. 

State, 478 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), rev. dismissed, 504 

So. 2d 762 (Fla. 1987). 

The appellant also challenges the adequacy of this evidence 

by asserting that the state failed to prove that his  fingerprints 

could only have been left during commission of the crime. 

I 

However, the appellant's reliance on the general rule requiring 

the state to offer such proof is misplaced. A review of the 

relevant case law demonstrates that this general rule only 

applies when the fingerprints are the sole evidence linking a 

defendant to a crime, and when the fingerprints are discovered in 

a place or on a thing accessible to the general public. Miles v. 

State, 466 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), rev. denied sub nom. 

State v. Hampton, 476 So. 2d 675 (Fla. 1985); Sorey v. State, 
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419 So. 2d 810 ( F l a .  3cl DCA 1982). Neither of these 

prerequisites are present i ' I  t .his  C A S ~ .  The fingerprints were 

not the sole evidence of idC.qt-ii+y, since the appellant was shown 

to have pawned the VCR s h o r t  ly af'tr-r t h e  murder. Sorey; Dixon 

---I v. State 216 So. 2d 85  (Fla. 7 d  DCA 1 9 6 8 )  (fingerprints at scene 

not sole evidence when dcferarlatit a lso found to be in possession 

of stolen property), cert . drrriied, .... . 225 S o .  2d 524  (Fla. 1969). 

Furthermore , the appe 11 ant ' :; f. i ngerprints were not found in an 

area accessible to the gclrreral public, s i n c e  they were in 

Sandra's bedroom- Amell _I - _. v. - State, . _ _  4 3 8  So. 2d 4 2  (Fla. 2d DCA 

1983), habeas -co-rp.us . dcniecl. _ __ nZT,I) So. 2d 485 (Fla. 1984). Thus, 

the state was under nu nhliriat ion L o  prove that the fingerprints 

could only have been left- clurinq commission of the crime. 

-_---_I 

The appellant attemptvd F.0 explain the presence of his 

fingerprints in Sandra's apartment by testifying that he had been 

in Sandra's apartment just a f t e r  she had moved, and befare he had 

moved to his new apartmmt, at least four months prior to her 

murder (T. 257, 5 2 9 ,  532, ' 5 3 . 9 ,  552). He attempted to explain 

pawning the VCR by cl.ai.rni~g t . h a t  he found it in the garbage 

dumpster behind h i s  apartmvnt . These explanations could have 

been rejected by the jury a:; unreasonable even without contrary 

evidence by the state.  See, <Jar 110 v. State f 417 So, 2d 257 

(Fla. 1982) (evidence insuff ir* ient because not inconsistent with 

defendant's rensnnohlt? explan?tioai): ____ L a r T  v. __ State 104 So. 2d 

352, 355 (Fla. 1958) (defendiranl ' s  explanation was so incredible 

that. a jury of reasonable mt'n w e r e  warranted in refusing to 

2u - 
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accept it). In addiki-on, . 3 s  not,ed above, the jury would have 

been entitled to reject the appell ant ' s  testimony entirely based 

on the appellant ' s pretr.i a1 .':t.at,ement.a to Detective B e l l .  

Furthemore, thc ':tni;r-> w n t  t-adicted t h e  appellant' 6 

explanation by the t e s l  ixriony o f  David Farnell, a fingerprint 

expert who testified that fingerprints will be destroyed by 

subsequent hand1 iny  OT exposn to the e lements  (T. 3 4 2 ) .  The 

l i d  to the jar of face C K E ~ J ~  on which one of the appellant's 

fingerprints had been found hat1 obviously been handled since the 

l i d  was unscrewed from the j a r  when found on Sandra's night stand 

(T. 318, 346 ,  Ex. 2 0 ) .  Simi l .ar ly ,  it wnu1.d be reasonable for the 

jury ta infer that. a piece ot paper which Sandra had apparently 

carried in her purse for  f o u r  nr five months after being touched 

by the appellant would have heen handled and exposed to heat and 

humidity, thereby negating t h e  appellant's explanation as to how 

h i s  fingerprint came to be innrid an lhe paper ( T .  318-319, 349, 

532-533, EX. 18, 1 9 ,  21, 22). 

In Peavry -. -_ - . - v.  - .- State, - 4 4 2  St ) .  2d 200 (Fla. 1983), this Court 

found sufficient evidence to support convictions for first degree 

murder, burglary and robbery i n  a case similar t o  the  one at bar. 

The elderly victim in - Peavy .- - was found lying dead on his bed with 

multiple stab wounds. Sis room had been ransacked and a 

television set and h i s  w a t c h  w e r e  mi ssing . Peavy ' s fingerprints 

were matched to prints founcl in  the victim's apartment on the top 

of a can of shaving cream and on the victim's cashbox. Peavy 

testified at trial that on a d a t e  he could not remember, he had 



helped the victim carry a bar7 of' qroceries home fram a store ten 

I to twelve blacks away. I I e  had q c ) n ~  inside the apartment, ate 

Some f r u i t  and talked w i t h  the victim. A neighbor testified that 

he usually did t h e  v i - c t i m ' s  shopping, and he had purchased 

groceries for the v ic t im o n  t:he day he was killed. He had never 

known t h e  victim to h a v e  v r a l k e d  as far as the  store where Peavy 

had indicated meeting the victim, and the witness was not sure 

that  the victim w o u l d  have kwen ab1-e ta walk tha t  far. T h i s  

Court held t h a t  t h e  neighbor ' s test. imony, coupled with Peavy ' s 

f ingerprints  inside the aparLment;, w a s  s u f f i c i e n t  to support the 

convict ions and j u s t i f i e d  t h  jury's disbelief in Peavy's story. 

442 Sa. 26  at 202. 

Given the  testimony rc?btil;t* i r r y  the appellant ' s version of how 

h i s  fingerprints could have been left  i n  Sandra's bedroom, 

coupled with the circumstanl i.al evidence that- the appellant 

pawned the VCR in a very short- time after t h e  murder, coupled 

with the incons is tent  statemanta which the appellant provided to 

Detective Bell as to h i s  activi.t.ies on the day of the murder, and 

t h e  appellant's own testimony that Detective Bell was lying about 

the appellant's statements, the  state clearly presented 

sufficient evidence to ~ s t a l - i l  i sh t-he appellant ' s identity as 

Sandra's murderer. Therefm-e,  he is not entitled to be acquitted 

of these crimes. 
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B. PREMEDITATION 

The appellant next  cha I l e n q w  the  sufficiency of the 

evidence to establ  ish lhe 7)rernedi t+ated nature of t h e  murder, 

proposing that Sandra waci k i  lied i n  a blind sage. The appellant 

relies heavily on nr.. Diqqs ' (:onc:Iusciry testimony that the wounds 

in this case suggested that Ihey  occurred in quick succession, as 

in some type of '' frenzic passionate activity, 'I and argues that 

such activity is incnnsj.sten! wi  th premeditation under Mitchell 

v .  State -~ I 527 So. 2d 179 ( F l a . ) t  cert. --- ~ denied, 488 U . S .  960  

(1988). Mitch 1 i.s not helpf-ii i  to t,he appellant, however, since 

that case on ly  found thst t , h ~  raye by Mitchel l  negated the 

finding of cold ,  calculated and premeditated as an aggravating 

circumstance. 

As opposed to the heiqht.oned premeditation required to prove 

the aggravating factor, khe premeditation required to support a 

first degree murder conviction (:an be formed in a moment and need 

only e x i s t  long enough for an accused ta be aware of the  nature 

and probable consequence of hi.s acts. DeAngelo, 616 So. 2d a t  

4 4 1 .  The defendant in r)eRrlyelr, strangled the victim but 

confessed that  he had donr srl i n  a blind rage during an argument. 

This Court held that there wlcis subst~antial., competent evidence 

presented which defeated thirG kheory ,  including the facts that it 

would have taken five to ten minutes t o  kill the victim, that the 

victim was strangled with (7 Li-qature as well as manually, and 

that DeAngelo had previously indicated an intention to kill the 

victim. In fact, these circumstances were s u f f i c i e n t  to support 



the aggravating factor of' rn 1 d cal culated and premeditated as 

well. 

Whether or riot tlte t - v i d e r i c e  supports a finding of 

premeditation in the cnmmissjrm o f  ;I murder is a question of fact 

far the jury. S ~ ~ ~ o g  v. - Stat:e, -. 619 So. 2d 285 (Fla.), cert. 

---__I denied , - " - s * _-"_I I 126 L. Ed" 2d 5 9 6  (1993); Bedford, 589 So. 

26 at 250; P~g~tpfi7v-.-St.a~.r~, 4 4 4  SIJ. 2d 939 (Fla. 1984). This 

Court has consistent-ly uphel-rl a finding of premeditation in cases 

involving multiple stah wcmrvls. 'rn the instant case, as in 

Preston the murder weapon firas probably a kn i fe  of four t o  five 

inches in l e n g t h  (T. 378). Thiw C o u r t  noted there that "[sluch 

deliberate use of t h i s  type o f  weapon so as to nearly decapitate 

the victim clearly supporLs rz finding of premeditation." 444 So. 

2d at 9 4 4 .  

The traditional factors f r ) r  consideration in determining the 

existence of premedi t a t i n n  a 1 1 siipport. a finding of premeditation 

in the instant case. Such ctors include the nature of the 

weapon, the preserice or absence of provocation, previous 

difficulties between the r ~ j i ~ t - j e s ,  the manner in which the 

homicide was committed, the nat.ure and manner of the wounds, and 

the accused's actions before ;Inti after the homicide. Larry, 104 

So. 2d at 354.  The weapon i n  thi.6 case, as noted above, was a 

four to f ive inch knife ( " 1 ' .  378)  * There is  absolutely no 

evidence of anything that w c ~ u l d  have provoked a rage or frenzy, 

and no evidence of prior  d i  f f  FcuJ t i e s  between the parties. To 

the contrary, the appellant jwlicated that he and Sandra were 



friends (T. 413, ,530)"  The homicjdc-. was committed by stabbing a 

bound and gagged woman in t h e  tmck t l i i r t een  times, with at least 

twelve a€ the stabs being o f  lethal force (T. 280, 331,  375-377, 

3 8 0 ) .  In addit ion to Ir i 1 1 i n q  S : i l n d r ~ ~  the appellant ransacked her 

bedroom, stole a j e w e l r y  bo,: <*rid VCR, and pawned the VCR w i t h i n  

hours (T. 2 7 4 ,  287-288, 3 3 8 - 7 1 8 ,  4 0 6 ) -  

None of these factors l o w  s i g n i  ficance due to the lack of 

evidence of a struggle or dcife-rnsive wounds, or even i n  light of 

Dr. Diggs' proffered speculation that the scene may have started 

out as a consensual bondage : : i f u a t i o n .  It i s  not  surprising that 

Sandra could not  f iyht -  or d ~ f m d  herself since she was bound and 

gagged. Even if she had aqreed to the bondage i n i t i a l l y ,  the 

appellant concedes that at some po i.nt the  episode "escalated" 

into a homicide. That psr:alat-ion provides the necessary 

premeditation to support thi .r: r:onvicl:ian since it required the 

appellant to reflect lang enciilgh to go get a knife a x  to take out 

a knife which he had broughf t r ~  the bedroom w i t h  him in obvious 

anticipation of its  use. 

Other cases r o u t  j r i e l  y ackriowl edge the existence of 

premeditation under s i m i  1 ar T- i n-izmstances , rejecting claims that 
the emotional nature uf ~h5-9 crime precludes a finding of 

premeditation. See, Sochor, __  ._- 6 1 9  So. 2d a t  288-289 ( fact  that 

Sochor stopped assaulting vi(.!.ina l o n g  enough to look up and yell 

for his brother to yet  intc t+hc  truck demonstrated a sufficient 

period of reflection to ~ ~ ~ i l ~ p l a t e  the nature of his acts); 

K r a m e r  v. State, 619 So, 2d 2 7 4  (PLa. 1993) (evidence suggested 



victim was killed during spontaneous fight, with no discernible 

reason, between a disturbed alcoholic and a legally drunk man, 

but blood spatter and victim injury provided substantial basis 

for finding of premeditation); Pellot v. State, 582 So. 2d 124 

(Fla. 4th DCA) (although Pellot stabbed his wife thirty-two times 

during a domestic dispute, evidence that he had previously taken 

the knife into the bedroom and that he had obtained another knife 

from the kitchen during the attack was sufficient to support 

finding of premeditation), rev. denied, 591 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 

1991); see also, Taylor v. State, 583 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1991) 

(physical evidence permitted jury to reject Taylor's testimony 

that he beat victim in a rage). 

In Bedford v. State, 589 So. 2d at 247-251, the victim was 

found, bound and gagged, in a garbage dumpster. The defense 

maintained that she had been killed accidently during erotic 

sexual asphyxia. Although a defense expert testified that the 

victim's injuries were consistent with erotic sexual asphyxia, 

this Court concluded that sufficient evidence existed from which 

the jury could have inferred premeditation to the exclusion of 

all other possible inferences. Such evidence included the facts 

that the victim had been bound, gagged, and had abrasions to her 

mouth indicating her attempts to screw; that she had sustained 

some injuries prior to her death; and that the defendant had 

provided inconsistent versions of events. 

1 

The appellant's reliance on Smith v. State, 568 So. 2d 965 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1990) is misplaced. In S m i t h ,  the victim's body 
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was found floating i n  T a m p  nay, wrapped i n  a bedspread and 

chains. Due to the d~?compr~ : : .F t i~~~  r ) f  the body, the state was 

unable to show the nature r > f  t,hc weapon or any wounds ox the 

manner in which t h e  hrmic i d v  was ( : r i m m i t . t e d .  Therefore the state 

was unable to rebut Smith'.: liypothasis that he had killed the 

victim i n  the heal. of p a s s i r m ,  and the district  court reduced h i s  

conviction to second deqrec  nwrder. Accord, Hoefert v. State, 

617 So. 26 1046 (Fla. 1 9 9 J ) . .  Since the evidence in the instant 

case clearly demonstrated +:he manner in which the homicide was 

committed, this case was prqwrLy submitted to t h e  jury on the 

issue of premeditation 

There was c leas Ly subst 7 1 n t  i aJ , c:ompetent evidence presented 

to support a finding of' prem~jif:ation on the facts of this case. 

In addition, even a 1.nck c?f such  evidence would not warrant 

relief since these was su.Ff ir-ient-, evidence to support a first 

degree murder conv ix t i -on  11rilj-w" a felony murder theary, as 

discussed in the subissus that f -crl lows.  Therefore, the appellant 

is not entitled to have h i s  crrnwiction reduced t o  second degree 

murder. 

t 

c .  FELONY MI.JRDER/RKMED R ~ ~ E R Y  

The appellant also a t L i i  *ks t h e  sufficiency of the evidence 

support h i s  armed robbei'y conviction, and consequently h i s  

first degree murder cunvic:t i~~r1 tlndei- a felony murder theary. The 

appellant maintains thal: hi"s int.ent to steal m a y  not have arisen 

until after completion of t h v  murder herein, and therefore the 



taking of Sandra's jewe1.r-y br,x, VCR, and possibly any money that  

may have been in her wallet w a s  merely incidental to her homicide 

and without t h e  USE! of I - o~ce .  Flo h a s  now fashioned a hypothesis 

of innocence that ber:au,r;l". k l w  t a k i n g  of Sandra's VCR was an 

afterthought by t h e  killer. i t  canriot be used to support 

convictions fo r  robbery <IT: f e Loriy murder. It must be noted 

initially that the defense n~ver- suggested this version of events 

to  the  jury or the judge below, and therefore the state  is not 

required to rebut the argurnvnl.. Law, - -  559 So, 2d at 189. In 

addition, the suggestion that n verdict based on felony murder 

cannot stand unless t;he s t ~ t ~ e  establishes that an intent to 

cammit the underlying f e l o n y  t 3 x i s t e d  at the  time o f  the murder is 

not properly before t h i s  C - v r !  s i n c e  it was nut directed to the 

court below f o r  consi-dera t- ion a See I Bertolotti v . Duqqer, 5 14 
So. 2d 1095 ( F l a .  1987) (argnrnmt t h a t  general verdict for first 

degree murder was void c o u l  1 n o t  be considered an appeal where 

defendant failed to challenge? sufficiency of evidence to support 

felony murder in t r i a l  c o u r t ) .  

-_ ---I__ ----I 

The appellant relies on {'ases from other jurisdictions to 

convince this C o u r t  that f e l o n y  murder in Florida requires a 

preexisting or concurrent int-wit  to commit the underlying felony 

to be proven. Furthermore, 1-y c-hallenging the  sufficiency of the 

evidence of such i n t e n t  in t h i s  case, the appellant apparently 

believes that the actual w a n m i  ssion of the underlying felony 

cannot implicitly provide evidence of this intention, and the 

state must have offered indepwvient, proof of the intent to steal 



in this case in order t:n support (1 Celony murder verdict. The 

appellant is mistaken on hr l th  po i.nts, 

Historically, the concept; of felony murder never required a 

preexisting of  independent i n  t e n t  to commit t h e  underlying 

felony. Dislike far: 1 '~Jony  murder liability has l e d  to 

legislative and judicial. 1 irni-tal:ions on the applicability of the 

felony murder doctrine.  At present I commentators recognize that 

there is a "split of authuri .1.y" on this issue of whether felony 

murder requires a preexistjng o r  concurrent intent to commit the 

underlying felony. See, IinF'ijVP and Scott ,  Substantive __ ~ Criminal 

g w ,  §7.S(d)(4) ( 1 9 8 6 ) .  T n  addit ion, commentators reject the 

noti-on that a perpetrator '3 i ri tent; to r:ommi t a felony will supply 

the intent to kill tn  s u s ~ a i n  a first; degree murder conviction, 

finding this theo.ry t.r-1 be "piire fiction" and the better practice 

to recagnize felony m u r d e i -  as a categnry of murder separate from 

the intent to kill mu.rder+ Kd., #7.5(a). 

In Commonwealth ~_ l " - _ l  . ~ . .  . . . v. ' l ' m J i u s o r i r  .. 284 A. 2d 687 (Pa. 1971), the 

Pennsylvania Supreme Cnurk. mi terated that  felany murder can be 

committed even if the i n t e n t  t , c >  commit the underlying felony does 

not  arise until after the k i l l i n g  has taken place. 

Appellant next t*rJrrtends that the felony- 
murder rule should no t  apply if the intention 
to perpetrate t-he fc-lrmy was not conceived 
until after the a c t u a l  killing. There is no 
merit in t h i s  contrwt . inn.  This Court  has 
several times decided that  if a homicide 
occurs in the perpetration of or attempt to 
perpetrate a robbery o r  ather statutorily- 
enumerated feLonics , ;A conviction of murder 
in the first degree will be sustained 
regardless of w h e n  the design to commit the 



robbery or o t h p r  frdony was conceived or the 
felony commit-ted. 

284 A. 2d at 690. 

The appellant's c l a i m  appears 1.0 be that Florida should 

specifically adopt a requ i.remcnt nf preexisting or cancurrent 

intent to commit t h e  felony simply because this is the prevailing 

view. However, t h i s  Court. must cxami.ne Florida's statutory 

scheme for legislative intent nat just accept other judicial 

interpretations of di f ferexil fel.ony murder statutes. For 

example, it is generally acr,qited that felony murder will not 

apply in situations where ~ J T W J  felon .is shot  and killed by a 

police officer, v.ictirn, CIS i ramcent bystander (see LaFave and 

Scott, supra, 57.5(d) at 2 1 7 )  but certainly one would not make 

t h i s  argument in F l o r i d a  w h e r v  bhe sl ,atute expressly provides for 

this situation. S e c t i o n  7 8 2 . 0 4 ( 3 )  , Fla, Stat, 
Florida law requires f -hr -?  application of felony murder 

anytime that a homicide is " r ~ ~ m m . i t t e d  by a person engaged in the 

perpetration of, or in the a mpt to perpetrate, I' any of twelve 

enumerated felonies.  Section) 782.04(1)(a)2., F l a .  Stat. Florida 

courts have consistently in2 rxyreted t h i s  language t o  mean that 

the s ta tute  applies a s  lonq i3R the murder and the felony were 

part of the same cr iminal  episnde. See, Younxv. State, 579  So. 

U.S. -, 117 L. Ed. 2d 438 

(1992); Roberts -_--_ Y. Stat+, . . 510 Sn.  2d 8 8 5 ,  888 (Fla. 19871, cert. 

denied, 485 U . S .  9 4 3  (198H}. S i n c e  the purpose of the felony 

murder rule is to protect hcl public from inherently dangerous 

--- - 

2d 721 (Fla. 1991), cert. - - - dernj.wj, - -- -- 



situations created by T h e  commissiori of the felony, the rule 

should apply whenever a death OG'*II~*',C; during t h e  same criminal 

episode of a related felony. Parker  - .  v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly 

S322 ( F l a .  June 3 6 ,  1 9 9 4 )  

By so construing the; stat+ut.c, Florida has recognized the 

inherent dif € i c u l t y  i.n determining t h e  relat ionship between two 

or more criminal acts  committed at the same time. Specifically, 

the courts look for a deiinitive break in the chain of 

circumstances, either by t i m e ,  place or causatian, in determining 

the appl icabi l~ i ty  of fe lony  murder, Griffin . . _ _  v. - __ State, - 19 F l a .  L. 

Weekly S365, S367 ( F l a .  J u l y  7 ,  1 9 9 4 ) :  P-a~~ker~v~,~State, 570  So. 

2d 1048 ( F l a .  1st DCA 1 9 9 0 ) .  In fact, cases have applied the 

same test involved i n  determi niny the propriety of stacking 

minimum mandatory sentenres when crimes are committed during the 

same criminal episode in  r:onsider.hZg whether t h e  felony w a s  

suf f ic ient ly  connected w i t h  t-he murder to support a felony murder 

conviction. See, W.S.L, . . - -. . v. - .- State, 470 So. 2d 828,  829 ( F l a .  2d 

DCA 1 9 8 5 )  (citing Palmer - ~ v. S t e ,  438  So. 2d 1 ( F l a .  1 9 8 3 ) ) ,  

rev'd. on ~ otherGaunds, - - _ _ _ _ I "  485 S o .  2d 4 2 1  ( F l a .  1 9 8 6 ) .  

Jackson v. State, 575 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 1991), is 

illustrative. Jackson was c o n v i c t e d  of robbing a hardware store 

in January, 1984, when the t-heft. statute did not recognize 

violence used during the course of an escape as force that  would 

support a robbery canviction. S e e ,  Royal v..Stage, 490  So. 2d 44 

(Fla. 1 9 8 6 ) .  He was alsri c:onvicted of first degree murder 

because the owner of the store w a s  killed at the scene of the 
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robbery. This Court re-jpcted Sacksciri's argument that there was 

no armed robbery since the s t i i t , e  fail.ad to prove that the owner 

was not shot  as part nf ?,he perpetxntor 's  escape from the scene, 

finding that  Jackson d i d  not pcc.*scnt any reasonable hypothesis of 

innocence when v i"ewed  i n  l i v b t  o f  t h e  totality of the evidence 

against him. 

The appellant similarly stiggests that no robbery occurred i n  

t h i s  case because no force w i t :  used to s tea l  property from the 

dead victim, assuming t h e  person was k i l l e d  fo r  s o m e  reason other 

than to perpetrate the t he -F t .  The c r i m e  of robbery is defined as 

the  taking of money or property, "when in the  course of the  

taking there i s  t,he u s e  of tome, vio lence ,  assault, or putting 

in fear." Section 8 1 2 . 1 3 ( 1 ) ,  F l a .  S t a t ,  The phrase "in the  

course of the taking" is f u r t h e r  defined to mean any a c t  that  

"occurs either pr ior  to, con t+wnporaneous with, or subsequent to 

the  taking af the property and i f  j t  and the  act of taking 

c o n s t i t u t e  a continuous sex-irhs of acts or events," Section 

812.13(3)(b), Fla. Stat. Thus, when a homicide and a related 

t h e f t  occur in a n  uninterrupt-td series of events ,  the force used 

to commit t h e  hamicide is suiticient to aggravate the theft in to  

a robbery. 

There is no evidenc-r?, al- even t h e  unsubstantiated 

suggestion, of any interrupt.. J on between Sandra's murder and the  

taking of her property i n  t h e  r-cord before t h i s  Court. And the 

appellant does not, and C B ~ I I C ) L ,  suggest that the murder and 

robbery i n  this case are tolit1 ly unrelated. Clearly, the murder 



helped facilitate the robbery, c?ven i f  the in tent  to steal did 

not develope until a f t e r  Sandri i  was dead. But for  the murder, 

t h e  appellant would  not haw- been sitting around in someone 

else's apartment, knowiriq h i s  on ly  w i t , n e s s  was dead, when he was 

suddenly and spontaneously s t r . J i c k  by the  urge to ransack Sandra's 

bedroom and steal her VCR. Ttius, the murder provided the impetus 

and the opportunity for the> appellant to steal, and robbery was 

sufficiently established in t h i s  case, 

In - - 1 - ~ - -  Randolph v.  State, 463  So. %d 186 (Fla. 1 9 8 4 ) "  cert. 

denied, _-__ 473 U . S .  907 (19851, this Court noted t h a t  sufficient 

evidence had been pres~nKmf to support Randolph's murder 

conviction on either a psc.\rnedi tated or felony murder theory. 

Randolph's girlfriend was a I wit:it.ute, and the victim was one of 

her regular customers. One niqht-, a f t e r  the g ir l f r i end  and the 

victim had been together, Rilwjol.pli showed up as the gir l fr iend 

wa6 leaving, and pushed her wmy. The girlfriend ran away, but 

overheard Randolph toll tho v i c : t i m  that he wouldn't shoot if t h e  

victim didn't try anything The girlfriend then heard two 

gunshots - After the shootixrg, Randolph asked the girlfriend i f  

the victim had any money. W h c r r  she said he did, Randolph walked 

over to the  truck, with t tw  victim inside, looked ins ide  the 

window, got in, and taok  somrthing. There was testimony that the 

victim had been given $100 S r i  .:ash from his father that evening, 

but the only money found a1, thr scene was $20 that was hidden in 

the truck. Thus, under t l i r .  f a c t s  as recited in this Court's 

opinion, t h e  evidence that f h f ?  victim was killed and at least 



eighty dollars could no1 hr. ac:r*rmrit.ed for  was sufficient to 

support a verdict based on t-r?lr>riy murder. 

Of COUCBE?, i nt.ent j s 1Jstlij 1 1 y ea~abl ished by circumstantial 

evidence, and our- c:ourts have r-uatxi.std(wtly held that a motion for 

judgment of acqu; ttal. shou ld  Y ely,  ~f ever, be granted based on 

the state's failure to prow i n t e n t .  Kinq_v. I- S t a t e  545 So. 26 

375 (Fla. 4 t h  DCA), rev. d e - n i ~ c i ,  551 So.. 26 462  (Fla. 1989). The 

evidence in t h i s  case shower1 t.hat. the appellant admitted having 

financial problems a l l  h i s  L i  f - ,  tohat he had pawned a television 

set the  day before the m i i r ( f i ~ ~ ,  and, most significantly, that he 

pawned Sandra's VCR at 1:4?  0x1 t h p  day she was killed, before her 

body had even been d i s c o v e r 4  T, 2 8 7 )  Sandra's bedroom had 

been ransacked, axid the content.:; o f  her purse, including her open 

wallet, had been dumped all O V < > Y .  the floor (T. 274, 318-319, 406,  

Ex. 18, 19, 21, 2 2 ) .  

On these facts, the appe1 lant i s  not entitled to acquittal 

from h i s  robbery convict ion,  However, even if successful, the 

appellant's a t t a c k  on the v d  idity of his robbery conviction 

could not possib1.y affect hi:? f irst degree murder conviction, 

since there was amp1.e eviderir-r o f  prernedi-tation to support the 

conviction for t h e  reasons disc-ussed in Issue I(B) . In Griffin 

v. --- United -- States, _- SO2 U . S *  I 132 S .  Ct, 466 ,  116 L .  Ed. 2d 371 

(1991), the U n j  ted  S t a t e s  :;uprwne Court rejected the argument 

that a general verdict s ~ I w ~ ~ I  be set aside if there is not 

sufficient evidence to supprrr-t. one o f  the possible bases for the 

conviction, noting the prevailinq r u l e  that the verdict stands as 

~- 



long as the evidence is sufficient with respect to any one of the 

acts charged. See also, Teffeteller v. State, 439 So. 2d 840 

(Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074 (1984). Therefore, no 

harmless error analysis is necessary in this case due to the 

validity of a first degree, premeditated murder conviction. 

However, even if a harmless error analysis was required, the 

overwhelming nature of the evidence of premeditation discussed in 

Issue I(B) and the lack of any evidefice indicating that Sandra's 

murder was anything but intentional clearly demonstrates the 

harmlessness of any deficiency in the felony murder verdict. 

D. PECUNIARY GAIN 

The appellant also challenges the applicability of the 

pecuniary gain aggravating factor. Of course, the finding of 

this factor may be upheld based on the facts recited above to 

support the appellant's robbery conviction, since the same facts 

demonstrate the financial motivation behind this offense. The 

most compelling fact, of course, is the pawning of Sandra's VCR. 

It is not simply that the VCR was taken during the assault, it is 

the appellant's actions in driving a good distance immediately 

following the murder, coupled with having pawned a television the 

day before. In addition, the fact that Sandra's room was 

1 

ransacked and the contents of her purse were dumped on the floor 

sets this case apart from those cited by the appellant. In the 

appellant's cases, this factor has been rejected when personal 

items such as a gun, boots, or money have been removed from the 
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body of the vict im and t h e  t h e f t s  arc. incidental to the murders, 

or property is taken to hr:lp facilitate an escape, See and 

compare, Clark v. Stat.-%, 609 S o . .  2d 513 (Fla. 1992); Jones v. 

State, 580 So. 2d 1.43 ( F l a + ) ,  rc?rtJ .. - denied, _" - U.S. .-..".-I 116 L. 

Ed. 26 179 (1991); Scull v -  _ _  _ S t a t e ,  5 3 3  So. 2d 1137  (Fla. 1988), 

cert. denied 490 U.S. 1037 (1989); Peek v. St-ggg, 395 So. 2d 

492 (Fla. 1 9 8 0 ) ,  cert. _ denied, __.._ - .- . 4 5 1  U.S. 964 (1981). 

The finding o f  t h i s  factor: is also supported by the penalty 

phase testimony o f  Judy Baker, regarding the appellant's prior 

violent felony conviction. As noted by the trial. court ,  Baker's 

offenses were clearly m o t i v a t . e d .  by a desire for money, and the 

facts of Sandra's offenses ar:t-? strikingly similar. Both women 

were attacked in the daytimp in the same part of town, the 

appellant bound and gagged them both, and he used a similar type 

weapon during each of fense .  

The appellant ' s concern t h a t  the  testimony about Baker's 

offense cannot be considered in determining the existence of this 

aggravati.ng factor is not persuasive. He first claims that the 

incidents were not sufficiently similar, however t h e  concern with 

points of similarity between r:ol lateral crimes is only relevant 

if the  collateral crime is ' x i n q  offered to show the identity of 

the perpetrator in the primary  rime being tried. These crimes 

were similar enough in t h e  mannw- in which they w e r e  committed to 

support a finding that they w e r e  both motivated by pecuniary 

gain - 

- .3 6 .- 



The appellant also tnrgrn~~s P h a t .  evidence of the subsequent 

rape should not be cronsj C]”!T+*F?~ l o r  this aggravator because 

aggravating ciscimstances cnnTtr>t he establ ished by evidence of 

unrelated incidents, citing Power v. .  State,  _ -  605 So. 2d 856 (Pla. 

1992), c e r t .  .-I-_-- denied, -- _ _  - U . S .  .. - ” , 123 L. Ed. 2d 483 (1993), and 

Trawick v .  State, 473 So. 2d 12115 (Fla. 1985)” cert. denied 476 

U . S .  1143 ( 1 9 8 6 ) .  In Trawir-I;, .- . 1 he sentencer improperly r e l i e d  on 

acts committed against a separate v i c t i m  in establishing the 

heinous, atrocious OK cruel f a c t o r  for t h e  victim for which 

Trawick was being sentenced; i n Power  -- -- .I t h e  sentencer improperly 

r e l i e d  on evidence of prior i-apes in determining that the murder 

following the  rape in t.hr7t case w a s  cold, calculated and 

premeditated, althsi igh none o f  t h e  v i c t i m s  i n  the  prior rapes had 

been killed. These cases ;ire ce r t a in ly  distinyui shable  and 

should not. be read as brnarlly as the appellant suggests  to 

preclude any consideration of’ €acts of an unrelated crime to 

support the finding of an sqqravating circumstance- In fact, 

Power - implies that, while evidence of another offense cannot be 

used as the only  evidence to r s t a b l i s h  an aggravating offense, it 

can be considered arid u s 4  t-n support the f inding of an 

aggravator in con junction w i t  h !&her evidence. 

-I.----- I ---_I ---_____I - __ 

This Court has uphc:t(i khe finding of the pecuniary 

gain/camission of a robbery nnqravating factor an €acts similar 

to those i n  this case. Atwater -  . v. State  -_-I 626 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 

1 9 9 3 ) ,  --- cert. deni-ed, _. U . S .  - - r  1.14 S .  C t .  1578 (1994); Bruno 

v .  State, 574 So. 2d 76 ( P J a . ) ,  cert. denied, -- - U . S .  116 

.. 17 - 



L. Ed. 2d 81 (1991); Floyd - -  v -  :itate, 569 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 

1990), cert. _---_ denied, - U . P ,  -. f 1 1 1  5. Ct. 2912 (1991). While 

the appellant woiil d argue f a c  LuaJ. d i s  t - inct ions in those cases , 
obviously every case i 8 di F f s r w i t .  o n  i - ts  facts . The appellant ' a 

ransacking Sandra ' s bedroom, dimpi ng o u t  her purser stealing and 

pawning her VCR immediately, having pawned a TV the day before, 

and committing another vioJ.ent. c r i m e  during t h e  course of a 

robbery two weeks l a t e r  al.1 support the finding of t h i s  

aggravating factor  in t h i s  case. 

Finally, it. should bp n c ~ t e d  that any error in t h e  finding of 

this aggravating circurnstaricr-l woul  t l  not a f f e c t  t h e  validity af 

the appellant ' s sentence I The  {:oi~rt  below refrained from 

considering the appl icahi 1 ity of Lhp aggravating circumstance 

that  the murder in t h i s  case F'AS comijted during the course of a 

felony in order tm avoid improperly doub1.ing the pecuniary gain 

factor. However, even if there was no evidence of any intent  to 

rob or s tea l  fram Sandra, the appl.lant clearly committed an 

armed burglary which coulq' be weighed if t h e  pecuniary gain 

factor was struck. Even if this factor was not considered below, 

t h i s  Court m a y  take it intv account in determining the validity 

of the sentence imposed in t h i s  case s ince  it is clearly 

reflected in t h e  record. 3xr EthqlF v. State, 484  So. 2d 568 

(Fla. 1985), cert* denied, -- 1"7Y U . S .  871 (1986). Fur all of the 

above reasons I the appel I , ?? t  ' s death sentence should not be 

disturbed on this issue. 



WnETHEH THE I'RJAI. COIJRT ERRED 1N EXCLUDTNG 
THE PROFFERED TESTIMONY OF DR. D I G S  AS TO 
WHETHER THE VIGTTM HAI)  CONSENTED TO BEING 
BOUND. 

The appellant also chaIJeriges  t-he U i a l  court's refusal to 

allow Dr. Diggs to specula% about Sandra's state of mind prior 

to being bound, gaqged and s tabbed to death. O f  course, a t r i a l  

court has broad discret ion in determining the range of subjects 

on which an expert witness may be allowed to testify, and this 

ruling cannot be disturbed m appeal absent a clear showing of 

abuse of that discretion. r.3urns - v .  - _  S t a t e ,  609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 

3992); - Johnson . v. - S t a t e ,  _-_ 3 9 3  S o .  2d 1069 (Fla. 1 9 8 0 ) ,  cert. 

denied, - 454 U.S. $82 (1987). No such abuse has been demanstrated 

in this case. 

During cross examina.t?on, Dr. Diggs testified that the 

nature of the wounds in thic case sugqested that they occurred in 

quick succession, as I' in sm~e type of Erenzic passionate 

activity" (T. 397). Thereafter, the defense called Dr. Diggs' as 

a defense witness and sought t o  e l i c i t  his conclusion that the 

in juries were "consistent 7 4  t-.h " a consensual bondage situation 

that escalated i n t o  a m i i r . d e r . .  In the  proffer, Dr. Diggs 

testified that h i s  obsesvatims in t h i s  case led to two possible 

scenarios, one where t h e  v j f - : t i m  was incapacitated and could not 

fight or yell and one w h e r e  t+hv v i c t i m  had engaged in a bondage 

situation, but noted that "as LQ what happened here, 1 have no 

idea'' since both scenes woulrj look j u s t  alike after the fact (T. 

4 6 5 - 4 6 6 ) .  
- .'I 3 - 
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The judge inquired of I ) r .  njqqn in an effort to ascerta in  

the admissibility o f  the testimony sought Dr- Di.ggs s ta ted  that 

determining whether a bondage s i tua t.inn was consensual or forced 

was not something he normal '1 y t.cst i f ind about or considered as a 

medical examiner (T. 4 7 5 )  I When asked if t h i s  was within h i s  

purview, he stated it was n ~ t  and t h a t  attempting to decide what 

happened beyond the physir:ill positjoning of the bodies was 

outside of his expertise IT. 4 7 6 ) .  Dr. Diggs clearly felt  

uncomfortable in offerin9 an opinion that  the scene was  

consistent w i t h  a consensual bondage:  

THE COURT: WelJ, there i s  not enough 
inf  omati on - But isn't; that, then, just 
total speculation? 
THE WITNESS: Exact1.y. That-. is the point I'm 
trying to bring out. That; i.s the point: that 
I was trying to bring o u t  altogether. I t ' s  
total  specu la t im because you just don ' t 
have enough inf o m a t  ton. 

(T. 484). The judge then opined that it would be misleading to 

offer such speculation as an expert opinion, and Dr. Diggs stated 

"That is exactly right." (T. 4 8 5 ) .  

The appellant has failed to demonstrate any abuse of 

discretion in the trial court's ruling to exclude this testimony. 

In fact, t h e  trial court's ruling to exclude this testimony was 

proper for several reasons. Clearly, an expert witness may not 

offer an opinion based on ~;pw:~ilation or suppositions, as any 

opinion must have some basis in f a c t  that is  supported by the 

physical evidence available - Ycmng:Chin - ~ ~ "  v .  --- City of Homestead, 

597 So.  2d 879 (Fla. 3d DCA 1 9 9 2 ) .  In addition, the testimony 










































































